
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW  

REGULAR MEETING 
DECEMBER 1, 2015 

 
APPROVED MINUTES 

 
1. Call to Order and Roll Call 

The meeting of the Architectural Board of Review (ABR) of the Village of Lake Bluff was 
called to order on December 1, 2015 at 7:00 p.m. in the Village Hall Board Room (40 E. Center 
Avenue) and the following were present.  

 
Present: Neil Dahlmann 
 Ed Deegan 
 Matthew Kerouac 

Carol Russ 
John Sorenson 

   Bob Hunter, Chair 
  

Absent: Steve Rappin, Member 
 
Also Present: Mike Croak, Building Codes Supervisor (BCS) 
 

2. Consideration of the November 3, 2015 ABR Meeting 
Member Russ moved to approve the minutes of the November 3, 2015 ABR meeting. Member 
Sorenson seconded the motion. The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  
 

3. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors (Public Comment Time) 
Chair Hunter stated there were no requests to address the ABR. 
 

4. A Public Hearing to Consider a Site Plan to Review Changes to the Lake Bluff Middle 
School at 31 E. Sheridan Place 
Chair Hunter administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing. 
 
Lake Bluff Elementary School District #65 Superintendent Dr. Jean Sophie noted that the 
proposed changes and improvements from the Workshop Meetings are reflected in the 
proposed plans presented.  Dr. Sophie mentioned that there have been many community 
members helping with the process, two of which serve on the ABR.  Principal of Lake Bluff 
Middle School Nate Blackmer, Lake Bluff School District #65 Board President Mark Barry, 
Craig Siepka of Wight Architects and Tom Carrano of IHC Construction Companies were in 
attendance to answer any questions.   
 
Mr. Siepka noted that the School District engaged in an extensive community engagement 
process and the community had expressed priority for safety and security for the students, 
renovation of the library, modernizing the science labs, relocate classrooms from the basement 
and ADA access. 
 

 



ABR Regular Meeting Minutes – 
December 1, 2015 
 

  2

Mr. Siepka showed the main site plan and reviewed the highlighted areas showing the existing 
building and past additions, the proposed new classroom additions for the northeast and 
southwest areas of the building, a new storage building south of the western parking lot, and the 
reconfiguration of the parking lots located northeast of the building.  He noted there are 
currently 24 parking stalls in the east lot and the proposed changes will decrease the number of 
stalls to 18.  The west parking lot will be slightly reconfigured to expand the plaza area in front 
of the main entrance and the existing bus loop and access to the school from the north end will 
be maintained. 
 
Mr. Siepka showed the main level floor plan and reviewed the highlighted areas for the 
proposed new additions, including: renovations to existing science labs, a new fine arts addition 
at the northeast side, and a new classroom addition on the southeast side of the building, 
reconfiguration of the main entranceway with direct viewing to the security vestibule and a 
series of reconfigured stairs and a new ADA accessible ramp.  He stated the library will remain 
in the same location and the major renovation will be to the special education program located 
on the loft area will be relocated to the lower level into the space vacated by the main office.  
He reviewed the proposed improvements for the library and noted the walls will be removed to 
open up the entire facility to increase visibility to the space. 
 
Mr. Siepka showed the location of the location for the presentation stair case which will 
descend to the lower level.  He stated the lower level classrooms will be relocated to the 
instructional suite in the southwest corner.  The District Office will relocate to the lower level 
with its own main entrance located at the north end of the building. Mr. Siepka stated we are 
looking at approximately 9,000 square feet or 80% renovations to the building. 
 
Mr. Siepka showed how the renovated new instructional space will increase the natural lighting 
to the space and noted the option to install a skylight to allow additional lighting the adjoining 
existing classrooms space abutting the area. 
 
Mr. Siepka showed the building elevations and stated the intent is to capture the colors of the 
brick from the 1954 addition, looking at the portions of the addition plus the size/type of 
widows, and repeating those as you move around the addition from the northeast to the 
southwest.  In addition we are looking to break up the brick façade and include Hardie Board 
siding to give relief and modulation to the façade.  The plan is give a soft, quiet addition to the 
existing context and make it more compatible with the existing surrounding areas of the 
building. 
 
Mr. Siepka noted that some neighbors expressed concern regarding the noise levels from the 
proposed rooftop mechanical units.  Mr. Siepka showed diagrams of the sight lines from grade 
to the rooftop mechanical units and noted an acoustical engineer will be engaged to ensure the 
decibel levels comply with State and Village regulations.   
 
Mr. Siepka addressed the traffic comments noting there will be no changes to the current on-
site circulation and no new traffic patterns. The existing traffic flow for pick-up/drop-off 
functions and bus drop-off will remain the same.  He reviewed the parking lot configurations 
and noted there will be on street parking available for special events. 
 



ABR Regular Meeting Minutes – 
December 1, 2015 
 

  3

Mr. Carrano reviewed the construction and staging diagram and noted fabric will be placed 
around the construction fence for the two new additions to minimize any visual disturbance.  
Mr. Carrano stated construction will be done six days a week beginning March 1, 2016 and go 
through September 1, 2016.  He explained the construction traffic flow and noted all delivery 
trucks will come in from Sheridan Road and the Village will allow construction traffic to turn 
left onto Sheridan Place to reach Sheridan Road preventing truck traffic from entering the 
surrounding neighborhoods.  The northeast corner staging area will be larger and have a 
construction trailer.   
 
Mr. Siepka reviewed the proposed landscape plan which include tree replacement and 
additional landscaping around the storage shed area.  The additional screening around the 
storage shed is an alternate proposal should funding become available.  Mr. Siepka reviewed 
the nine alternate proposals being considered by the Petitioner should funding become 
available. Lastly, Mr. Siepka showed and explained the 3D model of the proposed renovations 

Will Granda, a former Middle School student, asked if the band room would be relocated.  Mr. 
Siepka stated the band room will remain in its current location. 

Don Fawcett, neighboring resident, commented on the previous Middle School chiller unit 
renovations, specifically the amount of time it took for the noise issue to be addressed. He 
expressed his concern for the proposed HVAC rooftop unit and asked that the units be installed 
as far from the houses as possible and install the appropriate barriers to minimize the noise. 

In response to a question from Chair Hunter, Mr. Siepka stated there will be a 25 ton unit for 
the instructional area, a 5 ton unit for the administration area and the fine arts addition will be 
tied into the existing chiller units. 

BCS Michael Croak stated he received an email from Bob Clifford expressing his concern 
regarding noise and asked for an individual review of sound impact from the existing chiller 
units with the proposed addition being added to the middle school.  BCS Croak stated there is a 
provision to mitigate noise caused by all chiller and mechanical equipment operating at the 
Middle School included in the draft special use permit ordinance. 

Mr. Siepka reviewed the additional proposed methods that will be used to mitigate the noise 
and noted their intent to comply with all applicable State and Village regulations regarding 
noise levels. 

Matt Wnek, Lake Bluff resident, stated based on the information shared tonight regarding the 
timing when the school was initially built, where the extensions or additions planned as 
different phases from the initial construction.   

Mr. Wnek commented on the construction route and asked if there was any consideration for a 
temporary entrance off of Sheridan Road to the construction area.  Mr. Carrano stated Sheridan 
Road is a State roadway which would require IDOT approval.  Also they did not want to 
disrupt the existing landscaping. 

Mr. Wnek commented on his previous experience with high rise chiller units and asked about 
the need for new mechanical units. Mr. Siepka stated the length and capacity of the existing 
chiller will not support any additional square footage and that is why rooftop units are being 
proposed for that particular part of the building. 



ABR Regular Meeting Minutes – 
December 1, 2015 
 

  4

Member Dahlmann complimented the process the School system has had on the project and 
stated everyone involved worked well together to come up with a good solution.  He 
commented on the mechanical drawings of the rooftop HVAC and asked about the possibility 
of moving the mechanical unit to the ground near the entrance. Member Dahlmann expressed 
his concern regarding the number of entrances by which students can access the building and 
noted most security consultants recommend one entrance. 
 
Member Deegan stated the exterior elevations seem to tie together well.  He asked if they 
looked at a number of options for additional locations where the units could be moved and if 
structurally those were the best locations.  Mr. Siepka stated that is the best location and the 
new addition infrastructure will support the 25 ton unit. 

Member Kerouac recommended that the School District prioritize addressing the noise issue 
and recognize that items like landscaping could be improved at a later date. 
 
Mr. Siepka stated the School District has committed to addressing the noise issue.  
 
Member Kerouac stated it has been a great team approach and he applauds the process.  He 
noted that the entrance still needs to be resolved as it appears very tight and restricted.  He is 
glad the sign won’t be on the canopy, which will simplify that a bit.  He stated this is a 
beautiful project and thanked everyone for their effort. 
 
Member Russ expressed her agreement with the comments from the commissioner specifically 
regarding the entrance because the ramp appear to be an afterthought and needs further review.  
Member Russ stated the enclosed walls in the new addition could prevent visibility in the area 
where students populate and she would prefer to see the area opened up a little more. She noted 
the mechanical equipment is proposed for a higher roof and asked if the equipment could be 
place on the lower adjacent roof so that the existing masonry wall could help minimize the 
noise.  The comment regarding directing the units to the north instead of the south was a good 
idea.  She stated the character of the new classrooms do not really communicate with the 
exterior and this is something that will be noticed.  Member Russ stated she is glad to see the 
alternate proposal written down with amplification of what they are and what potential they 
may have.  She thanked the School District for recording the suggestions and presenting them 
as part of the packet. 
 
Member Sorenson agreed with the comments and thanked the Petitioner for the presentation 
especially the 3D model.  He asked what actions were taken in 2010 to address the noise issue.  
 
Mr. Barry stated the School Board worked extremely hard to be a good neighbor and spent 
approximately $100,000 in unplanned money to meditate the noise from the chiller units to 
establish acceptable decibel levels.  He stated we are commented to being good neighbors and 
will do the same for this project upfront instead of after the fact.   
 
Mr. Siepka stated the School District must adhere to the decibel levels at the property line as 
required by the State of Illinois. 
 



ABR Regular Meeting Minutes – 
December 1, 2015 
 

  5

Board President Barry stated community members had expressed confidence with the results of 
Paul Schueler out of the University of Illinois who was used for previous projects and Staff will 
contact him to see if he is interested in this project. 
 
Mr. Fawcett stated the aforementioned action makes him a little nerve because previous 
acoustical engineer stated the noise levels from the chillers had meet the Illinois Standards; 
however, the noise was extremely loud and not livable.  He cautioned the ABR not to go with 
the mandated noise threshold level because the noise from the previous project was 
unreasonable although it did meet the requirements.  Mr. Fawcett asked that the engineer 
consider all options to provide the neighbors with the lowest possible decibel levels. 
 
Chair Hunter described the existing chiller units and noted most of the noise was generated by 
the motors and fans from the units; however, the proposed HVAC units are a different type of 
system.  Chair Hunter stated they have done a nice job with the architectural features of the 
building and he agreed the front entrance needs to be reviewed. 
 
Chair Hunter stated the Hardie panel on the front of the fine arts room looks like it is in the 
same plane as the brick and it needs to have some relief.  Mr. Siepka stated they will look at it 
and make sure it is distinct. 
 
Chair Hunter closed the public hearing. 

Member Dahlmann moved to recommend the Village Board approve the site plan with the 
condition the following elements to return for final approval by the ABR: (i) front entry, (ii) 
mechanical units, (iii) noise, (iv) landscaping, and (v) wall sign.  Member Sorenson seconded 
the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 

Ayes:  Dahlmann, Deegan, Kerouac, Sorenson, Russ and Chair Hunter 
Nays:  None 
Absent: Rappin  
 

5. A Public Hearing to Consider a Site Plan to Review the Manor House and Carriage 
House at Stonebridge at 136 Green Bay Road 
Chair Hunter administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing. 
 
Peter Kyte, principal with The Roanoke Group expressed his appreciation to the ABR.  He 
introduced the members of his team, and noted that Mariani Landscaping will be the landscape 
architects for the project. 
 
Austin DePree of Northworks Architects, showed historic, existing conditions and interior 
space photographs and reviewed the conceptual plan for the Manor and Carriage Houses at the 
Stonebridge Planned Residential Development. He noted that transom windows in the Carriage 
House that had been filled in previously will be restored. 
 
Mr. Rick Lesser a Lake Bluff resident commented on the short notice near the Thanksgiving 
holiday.  He stated this is a substantial change in the plan because the previous plan was to 
demolish the Carriage House and replace it with three new homes and he is glad to the see that 
the Carriage House will be restored as it is a landmark for the neighborhood. 



ABR Regular Meeting Minutes – 
December 1, 2015 
 

  6

BCS Croak provided an overview of the expected public process for approval and anticipated 
future meetings. 
 
Mr. Lesser expressed his appreciation to the ABR and noted without volunteers serving on the 
Advisory Board’s the Village could not work. 
 
Barbara Fox, resident of 435 Park Ln, asked what the proposed uses would be for the Manor 
House and Carriage House.  Mr. Kyte stated the Manor House would be used for banquets and 
conferences and the Carriage House would be a clubhouse amenity for the use of the PRD 
residents. 
 
Member Sorenson stated that it is great that you plan to restore the existing Manor and Carriage 
Houses.  He asked about the parking plan for the area.  Mr. Kyte stated they are currently 
working with Mariani Landscaping regarding a parking plan.  A discussion ensued regarding 
parking. 
 
Member Russ stated the windows appear more contemporary and elegant in the current plan as 
opposed to what was originally there and inquired of the thought process.  Mr. Kyte stated the 
proposed plans are to install windows versus the screen porches to make it a useable space.  
The most modern portion of the project is the porte-cochere which was historically an open 
area, but will have windows installed. 
 
Member Russ inquired of the door height on the south elevation of the Carriage House, Mr. 
DePree stated the arch is approximately 16 ft. with three 8 ft. doors in the opening.   
 
Member Kerouac stated he loves the simplicity of the Carriage House and cautioned against 
hiding it behind a hedgerow. 
 
Mr. DePree stated many features have been lost over time with the façade and it would fun to 
bring back the sun dial, similar to market square, this is an architectural detail that will add to 
the iconic nature of the tower and bought back at minimal cost. 
 
Member Kerouac stated when additions are added to a building there should be minimal impact 
on the original building, there needs to be balance so as not to replicate something that is 
already there.  Mr. DePree stated we want to underplay the addition and not compete with the 
architectural features and noted the preference is to make it appear as a beautifully landscaped 
wall.   
 
Member Kerouac asked about the location of the east entrance.  A discussion ensued regarding 
the wall and the landscape features. 
 
Member Deegan stated the Carriage House is his favorite structure and everything being 
proposed is fantastic.  He stated the questions is how these buildings engage in the proposed 
landscape plan.  
 
Member Dahlmann expressed his agreement that everything appears to be moving in the right 
direction and look forward to the future plans. 



ABR Regular Meeting Minutes – 
December 1, 2015 
 

  7

Chair Hunter expressed his agreement with the comments from the commissioners. 
      

6. A Continuation of the Discussion of Community Character and Architectural Review of 
Single Family Homes 
Chair Hunter reported on the November 23rd Joint Special Meeting with the Committee-of-the-
Whole, PCZBA, Historic Preservation Commission and ABR meeting.  The Chair of each 
respective Advisory Board reviewed the community character discussion points submitted to 
the Village Board.  Chair Hunter stated the Village Board appeared to be okay with the ABR 
points and the PCZBA points are the major issues that need to be addressed.  Chair Hunter 
stated it was the consensus of the COW for the Advisory Boards to: (i) consider procedures to 
slow residential development; (ii) generate more specifics related to each recommendation; and 
(iii) return to the COW as a group for further discussion.   
 
A discussion of the community character discussion points followed. 
 

7. Consideration of the 2016 ABR Meeting Schedule 
Member Kerouac moved to approve the 2016 meeting schedule.  Member Sorenson seconded 
the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.   
 

8. Staff Report 
BCS Croak reported the next regular meeting will be on January 5, 2016. 
 

9. Adjournment 
There being no further business to consider, Member Kerouac moved to adjourn the meeting.  
Member Russ seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.   
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:20 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Mike Croak, CBO, CBCO 
Building Codes Supervisor  


